RECEIVED, 4/8/2013 14:53:33, Thomas D. Hall, Clerk, Supreme Court

IN THE
SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JESSE GUARDADO

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

CASE NO.: SC 12-1040

Lower Case No.: 04-CF-903

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT (CORRECTED)

CLYDE M. TAYLOR, JR.
FL Bar No. 0129747
ct@taylor-taylor-law.com
CLYDE M. TAYLOR III
FL Bar No. 0454140
bc@taylor-taylor-law.com
Taylor & Taylor, PA
2303 N. Ponce de Leon Blvd., Ste. L
St. Augustine, FL 32084
(904) 687-1630/fax (904) 342-6296

Counsel for Appellant GUARDADO

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

In this brief, the appellant, Jesse Guardado, is referred to by name, Appellant or as the defendant. The appellee is referred to as the State, Appellee, or the prosecutor. Citations to the post-conviction record on appeal (15 Volumes) are made by reference to the Volume number followed by the appropriate page numbers. For example, (Vol. III, pgs. 522-540) refers to pages 522-540 found within Volume III of the record.

Citations to the original record on appeal are made by reference to the original document number or the page numbers from the trial transcripts or jury selection that are not a part of the post-conviction record. For example, (R 252) refers to document number 252, (TT 250) refers to page 250 of the trial transcripts, and (JS 112) refers to page 112 from the jury selection transcripts.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Factual Summary of the Crime

The facts of this case were summarized in this Court's opinion affirming the judgment and death sentence, as follows:

At the time these crimes were committed, Guardado had served time in prison, having been sentenced to twenty years for the crime of robbery with a deadly weapon in Orange County, Florida, and fifteen to twenty years for the crimes of robbery and robbery with a weapon in Seminole County, Florida. The Seminole County sentences ran concurrent with the Orange County Sentence. He was placed on conditional release supervision on January 1, 2003, with the conditional release to expire on February 6, 2014.

Guardado had known the victim of the present crimes, 75-year-old Jackie Malone, since 2003, and had rented places to live from her. Guardado had been a guest in her home, including a few overnight stays when he was between rentals. He received assistance from Ms. Malone on numerous occasions including financial assistance, and she had assisted him in getting the job with the local water treatment plant which he held at the time of the crime. Guardado knew certain things about Ms. Malone, including the fact that she kept some money on hand in her wallet.

On the day in question, September 13, 2004, Guardado wanted to get high and continue his recent crack cocaine binge. Desperate for money to fix his truck and obtain drugs, Guardado decided to rob a local grocery store. His attempted robbery with a knife was thwarted by one of the employees. Still desperate for money, Guardado decided to rob and murder Ms. Malone that night because she lived in a secluded area and because she would open her home to him based on their prior trusting relationship.

Guardado arranged to drive his girlfriend's vehicle to work for the night shift. He generally maintained a change of clothes in this girlfriend's car because of the nature of his work at the treatment plant. On this occasion he made sure there were clothes in the car because a hurricane was due to make landfall in a few days. In addition to leaving clothes in the car, Guardado armed himself with a

metal “breaker bar.” He next drove to the parking lot at the Wal-Mart in DeFuniak Springs, where he got a kitchen knife from his disabled truck that was parked there. With both weapons in his possession, he then drove his girlfriend’s car to Ms. Malone’s house.

Ms. Malone had already retired for the night so Guardado continually knocked on her door to awaken her. Guardado identified himself by name when she came to the door. She greeted Guardado, and he told her he needed to use the telephone. When she turned away to allow him to enter the house, he pulled the “breaker bar,” which was hidden behind his back in his pants, and struck her repeatedly about her head. Ms. Malone raised her hands in defense, and then fell to the living room floor. Ms. Malone did not die from the numerous blows with the “breaker bar,” so Guardado pulled the kitchen knife and stabbed her several times, then slashed her throat.

Guardado said he hit her on the head with the “breaker bar” and thought that would have killed her, but it did not, so he hit her several more times. He also said that when she fell on the floor behind the couch it seemed she was not going to die so he stabbed her with the knife, including to the heart, so it would be over. However, Guardado confessed, “It just seemed not to go that way, she would not die.” After beating and stabbing Ms. Malone, Guardado went to her bedroom, looked through her belongings for money and valuables, and took her jewelry box, briefcase, purse, and cell phone. (Vol. I, pgs. 3-5)

Guardado’s Confession and Guilty Plea

Law enforcement officers first spoke with Guardado on September 21, 2004, several days after the murder and before he was arrested. (Vol. VII, pg. 1231) Without questioning from the officers, he blurted out “That lady didn’t deserve what I did to her.” (Vol. VII, pg. 1231-1232) Investigator James R. Lorenz assumed that he was referring to the victim, Ms. Malone. (Vol. VII, pg. 1232) Lorenz advised Guardado that he needed to speak with a public defender before he

could continue the conversation. (Vol. VII, pg. 1232) After consulting with the public defender, Guardado still wished to speak with law enforcement against the public defender's advice. (Vol. VII, pg. 1232)

During the subsequent interview, he confessed to killing Ms. Malone. (Vol. VII, pgs. 1240-1241) He explained that he was looking for money to buy drugs and that he went to her house to kill "[i]f that's what it was going to take." (Vol. VII, pgs. 1251, 1252, 1272) After the murder, Guardado bought crack cocaine, smoked it, and then went to work. (Vol. VII, pgs. 1246-1248, 1252, 1272, 1274, 1276, 1294)

Guardado also told the officers about his first experience with crack cocaine and stated, "I had no idea that stuff was so powerful. Just got to where I wanted it more and more, you know. And I kept telling myself, Oh, it's nothing; you can put it down whenever you get ready. But it just started grabbing harder and harder." (Vol. VII, pg. 1256) The day after the murder he continued to try to get money to buy more crack. (Vol. VII, pg. 1295)

He also explained why he attempted to rob a grocery store clerk, and stated, "Just going in there just for money to buy dope with. I tried to do it. He started hollering and I left." (Vol. VII, pg. 1293) He described his failed relationship with his live-in girlfriend, Lois Reichle, which ended as a result of his drug abuse. (Vol.

VII, pg. 1257-1258) After she moved out, he stated, “I just – I don’t know; I guess I just effectively lost it; I just gave up.” (Vol. VII, pg. 1258)

At arraignment, Guardado pleaded guilty to capital murder and robbery with a weapon in Walton County, without the assistance of an attorney. (Vol. I, pg. 2, 9; Vol. VIII, pgs. 1401-1431) In addition, he plead before the State announced that it would be seeking the death penalty, but with the knowledge that the State could seek the death penalty. (Vol. VIII, pg. 1419)

After Guardado pleaded guilty without an attorney, the trial court appointed John Jay Gontarek to represent him for the penalty phase. (Vol. I, pgs. 10-11) Prior to his appointment, Gontarek spent four (4) years as a prosecutor in the early 1980’s, had been in private practice since 1984, and had experience with death cases. (Vol. V, pg. 848)

In addition, the trial court appointed Jason Andrew Cobb as co-counsel for the penalty phase. (Vol. IV, pg. 751, 769; R 183) Cobb had previously helped another prosecutor prepare a death penalty case during his three (3) years as an assistant state attorney. (Vol. IV, pgs. 751-752) He had been in private practice as a criminal defense attorney for about four (4) years before his appointment. (Vol. IV, pg. 752)

Voir Dire for Penalty Phase

Three jurors that were stricken and not seated on the jury are germane to this brief: James Tucker, David Hebert, and Teresa Clark. Tucker, a lawyer that practiced in corporate security and formerly clerked for a federal appellate judge, voiced his objection to the death penalty, but agreed that a jury should consist of individuals with diverse opinions, including those that oppose the death penalty. (Vol. VI, pgs. 1159, 1161) His concern related to due process issues:

Well, I've given a fair amount of thought and – and I believe most of the statutes the states have drafted, including Florida, raise significant issues both on the Fourth Amendment and Fourteenth Amendment due process. I also think the way they implement it is not consistent. Therefore, in theory, you could come up with some possible justifications for the death penalty laws. I think that life without parole does cover, you know, most of the purposes of the criminal law in this context. (Vol. VI, pg. 1161)

He understood the duty of the jury and its purpose, but thought, “it would be difficult” to set aside his personal opinions and follow the judges instructions. (Vol. VI, pgs. 1161-1162) When asked if he could impose the death penalty under certain circumstances, he replied, “I’m sorry. I don’t think I could, under the Florida Statute.” (Vol. VI, pg. 1161) The court asked if his beliefs would substantially impair his ability to follow the law, and Tucker twice stated, “I believe it would.” (Vol. VI, pg. 1162)

The State moved to strike Tucker for cause and Guardado's counsel objected. (Vol. VI, pg. 1164) However, the court granted the State's motion and Tucker did not serve on the jury. (Vol. VI, pg. 1164)

David Hebert expressed a religious opposition to the death penalty. (Vol. VI, pg. 1168) The prosecutor explored whether his faith would substantially impair his ability to be fair and impartial:

Q: Do you feel like your Catholic faith – If you were selected as a juror, do you feel like your catholic faith would substantially impair your ability to be a fair and impartial juror; that is, to consider personally imposing the death penalty?

A: To be perfectly honest, I would hear both sides and try to be as fair as I can. But the effect of my religion on me, I really don't know what I would do, to tell you the truth.

Q: Have you ever seen or heard about a case where, despite your faith, you said, "Well, I could personally vote to impose the death penalty in that case, even though I'm a Catholic and even though my religion opposes it?"

A: My gut feeling would be yes, I probably could. But what I would really do under the circumstances, I really don't know until I'm there.

Q: I appreciate your candor. You understand when we select a jury, we're trying to have jurors who have an open mind about the issue at hand. And so when I ask will you have an opposition, I'm trying to find out whether you're already leaning either way. Are you thinking, "Well, you know, I'm probably going to vote for life and that way I'll be -- you know, I'll feel better about my faith," or are you open minded about the death penalty?

A: Like I said, my mind says to do one thing; my faith another; my heart another. All I can do is just try to be open. But I don't know what I'm going to do when I get in there, you know.

Q: Do you generally follow your faith?

A: Oh, absolutely; most of the time, yes; to the best of my ability that is.

Q: I understand; I understand. You've heard – I don't want to ask you to prejudge this case; okay? You've heard essentially what the case is about; that Mr. Guardado has pled guilty to robbing Jackie Malone and murdering her during that robbery. Do you feel like your faith would affect your ability to consider imposing the death penalty in such a case?

A: I think it would affect my decision, yes.

Q: All right. If I hear you correctly, you would – you'd like to follow the law?

A: Correct.

Q: And under the law of the State of Florida, the death penalty is available and the proper punishment in certain cases of first-degree murder. But you believe that your religious faith could substantially impair your ability to openly consider imposing the death penalty personally?

A: Yeah. (Vol. VI, pgs. 1168-1170)

When questioned by defense counsel, Hebert explained that he could follow the law, but that his religion would not be ignored:

Q: Would your religion substantially impair your ability to follow Judge Wells' instructions and the facts of the case?

A: I would try to follow the instructions as best I can. But what I'm saying is my religion would have some weight on my decision.

Q: Okay.

COURT: That's an important question that Mr. Gontarek asked you, Mr. Hebert. I want you to listen to it again and think about it again before you answer. I think what he asked you is, you have some strong religious beliefs; that's okay. Would they substantially impair your ability to apply the evidence to the laws that the Court will instruct you on?

A: I don't know how to answer because --

COURT: You don't know what the instructions are going to be?

A: Yeah.

COURT: Well, I think Mr. Elmore's done a pretty good job, and Mr. Gontarek, of explaining that this jury will be called on in making a recommendation. It doesn't have to be unanimous. You'll be asked to vote whether or not to recommend the death penalty or to recommend life without the possibility of parole. Those are the two options of the law as it applies to this case. The aggravating circumstances and the mitigating circumstances will be explained to you. But going in with these religious beliefs, do you feel like that they're going to impair your ability to follow the law and to apply the evidence to that law?

A: That's a very disheartening decision to make. I think it would impair it to a certain degree. (Vol. VI, pgs. 1174-1176)

In a final exchange, Hebert provided an additional explanation of his beliefs:

Q: Mr. Hebert, back to you for just one moment. In considering your religious feelings, do you feel that there are some cases that you could vote for the death penalty?

A: My mind says yes, but my heart says no. I really don't -- like I said, I don't know what I would do under the circumstances. I've never been faced with this and always prayed that I would never be faced with it, so I really don't know what I would do. I know that it would haunt me for the rest of my life once I made that decision, though.

Q: If you followed the law and instructions and made your decision on that, would that haunt you?

A: The thing is, I don't know if I could just follow the law; that's what I'm saying. My religion weighs heavily on what I do every day of my life.

Q: Okay. Thank you. (Vol. VI, pgs. 1178-1179)

The State moved to strike Hebert for cause and stated, “And Mr. Hebert is obviously – due to his religious faith is the reason I would move to excuse him.” (Vol. VI, pg. 1180) Defense counsel did not object and the court excused Hebert from the panel. (Vol. VI, pg. 1180)

Teresa Clark voiced an opposition to the death penalty, but assured the court that she could follow the law. (Vol. VII, pgs. 1194-1196) The State used a peremptory challenge to excuse Clark from the jury. (Vol. VII, pg. 1216)

Three jurors that presided over the penalty phase are germane to this brief: Pamela Pennington, Earl Hall, and William Cornelius.

Pennington knew the victim, who was her son’s realtor, and worked with her when her son was trying to buy a house. (Vol. VI, pgs. 1141, 1183, 1184) They met in person “at least once or twice a week” over the course of several months. (Vol. VI, pg. 1184) They had no further contact after Ms. Malone found her son a house to purchase in 2000 or 2001. (Vol. VI, pgs. 1185-1186) She admitted that she liked her because she was a very nice lady. (Vol. VI, pgs. 1190, 1191) Despite her relationship, Pennington claimed that she could be fair and impartial. (Vol. VI, pgs. 1184, 1191)

The prosecutor asked her about her views toward the death penalty:

Q: Ms. Pennington, the same question. Would you say that you strongly, somewhat, or slightly favor us having the death penalty available?

- A: Somewhat. It's the same; under the circumstances.
- Q: All right. If someone told you tomorrow, "We're abolishing the death penalty in the State of Florida," how would that affect you?
- A: Well --
- Q: Would you react by saying, "I don't know," or, "I don't care," or would you say, "No; that shouldn't happen; we need the death penalty?"
- A: I would say no, that shouldn't happen.
- Q: Could you personally vote to impose the death penalty in an appropriate case?
- A: Yes, sir. (Vol. VI, pgs. 1182-1183)

Earl Hall disclosed that he had some familiarity with the facts of the case from reading the newspaper. (Vol. VI, pgs. 1137-1139, Vol. VII, pg. 1210) He also revealed that his family members knew the victim and expressed positive opinions of her. (Vol. VII, pg. 1210) Furthermore, he admitted that he knew officers that were involved with the investigation. (Vol. VII, pg. 1211) He described his relationship with the officers to the prosecutor:

- Q: Investigator Garrett is a good – a close friend of long standing, both in family, my family, and myself. I've been knowing him for twenty-one, twenty-two years personally. And I have a son that worked with him before he went with the law enforcement and they were very close. Yeah, we're close. Investigator Lorenz used to be a client of mine when I sold insurance; that's been twenty years ago; up to twenty years ago. And he and his family had insurance with the company that I worked for, so I knew him from that. Officer Sunday, I don't actually know him; I know his father fairly well. My wife went to school with him back a long time back and so we've known him for a good many years and known the family.

Q: All right. If Investigator Garrett, who you've described as a close friend, testified, would you be able to fairly weigh his testimony with that of other witnesses?

A: Yes, I could.

Q: The same question for Investigator Lorenz and Captain Sunday?

A: Most definitely. (Vol. VII, pgs. 1211-1212)

Hall answered that he was "strongly" in favor of the death penalty. (Vol. VII, pg. 1199) He agreed to hold the State to its burden and consider mitigating circumstances. (Vol. VII, pg. 1200) He claimed that he was capable of recommending a life sentence if it were appropriate. (Vol. VII, pg. 1214)

Prospective Juror William Cornelius reported that his great aunt and uncle were murdered during a robbery. (Vol. VII, pgs. 1147, 1152-1153) Cornelius did not provide any details of the murders, as his knowledge was limited. (Vol. VII, pg. 1153) He denied that their murders would affect his ability to serve as a juror. (Vol. VII, pg. 1154)

Cornelius stated that he was "somewhat" in favor of the death penalty. (Vol. VII, pgs. 1150, 1156) He was then asked about the severity of a life sentence compared to a death sentence:

Q: And what have you thought about a life sentence being harsher?

A: Being in construction, I was on the construction of three new federal prisons and on one under way, which was Lewisberg. And I saw what they went through in that – in that prison serving for a long time.

Q: You saw what the inmates went through?

A: Yes.

Q: You felt like that was a very severe punishment?

A: On that one, yes. (Vol. VI, pg. 1157)

Neither Pennington, Hall, nor Cornelius were stricken for any reason and were accepted by both the State and Appellant. (JS 356, 357)

State's Evidence Presented at the Penalty Phase

The State sought to prove five aggravating circumstances: (1) the capital felony was committed by a person convicted of a felony and under sentence of imprisonment or placed on community control or on felony probation; (2) the defendant was previously convicted of another capital felony or of a felony involving the use or threat of violence; (3) the defendant was engaged in the commission of, or attempt to commit, or escape after committing a robbery with a weapon; (4) the capital felony was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel (hereinafter referred to as HAC); and (5) the crime was committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner (hereinafter referred to as CCP). (Vol. I, pg. 7)

James R. Lorenz, an investigator for the Walton County Sheriff, testified about his role in the investigation. (Vol. VII, pg. 1226) He worked alongside Investigator Rome Garrett (identified as a good friend of Juror Hall) on the case. (Vol. VII, pg. 1229) He investigated the crime scene and took photographs. (Vol. VII, pgs. 1228-1230)

Lorenz told the jury about meeting Guardado at his request, and his confession that followed. (Vol. VII, pgs. 1231-1235) The prosecutor played a redacted audio and video recording of the confession for the jury. (Vol. VII, pgs. 1236-1297)

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