TGEGKXGF. '813; 14235''3: 3: 54. 'Vj qo cu'F0J cm'Engtm''Uwrtgo g'Eqwtv

In the Supreme Court of Florida

JESSE GUARDADO,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC12-1040

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee. /

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR WALTON COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

CHARMAINE M. MILLSAPS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0989134

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 primary email: capapp@myfloridalegal.com secondary email: charmaine.millsaps@myfloridalegal.com COUNSEL FOR THE STATE

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

Prospective Juror David Hebert was questioned with two other prospective jurors. (T. Vol. V 215). The prosecutor asked if any of them were opposed to the death penalty and Hebert responded: "religiously, yes." (T. Vol. V 216). The prosecutor asked if the tenets of his religion included opposition to the death penalty and Hebert responded: "I'm a Catholic and I feel so, yes." (T. Vol. V

- 66 -

216-217). The prosecutor asked if his faith would substantially impair his ability to be a fair and impartial juror and Hebert responded that he did not really know what he would do. (T. Vol. V 217). The prosecutor asked if, despite his faith, he had ever heard of a case where he said to himself that in that case he could impose the death penalty and Hebert responded: "my gut feelings would be yes, I probably could. But what I would really do under the circumstances, I really don't know until I'm there." (T. Vol. V 217). The prosecutor asked if he would vote for life because he would feel better about his faith and Hebert responded: "my mind says to do one thing; my faith another; my heart another. All I can do is just try to be open. But I don't know what I'm going to do when I get in there, you know." (T. Vol. V 218). The prosecutor again asked if his faith would affect his ability to serve as a juror and Hebert responded: "I think it would affect my decision, yes." (T. Vol. V 218-219). Yet again the prosecutor asked if his faith would affect his ability and Hebert responded: "yeah." (T. Vol. V 219).

Defense counsel asked prospective Juror Hebert if he agreed that people should follow the law and if he could apply the law to the facts and he responded that he could do that. (T. Vol. V 226-227). Defense counsel explained that by following the instructions, he would be putting his religious feelings aside and Hebert responded: "This is true but my religion would still be a weighing factor in my decision, I think." (T. Vol. V 227). Defense counsel asked if his religion would substantially impair his ability to follow the instructions and Hebert responded: "I would try to follow the

- 67 -

instructions as best I can but what I'm saying is my religion would have some weight on my decision." (T. Vol. V 228). The judge then asked Hebert to listen to the question and think about it again before answering and the judge then asked him if his religion would substantially impair his ability and Hebert responded: "I don't know how to answer because . . ." (T. Vol. V 228). He then stated that his faith "would impair it to a certain degree." (T. Vol. V 229). Defense counsel asked him if there were some cases where he could vote for the death penalty and Hebert responded "my mind says yes but my heart says no." (T. Vol. V 232). And that such a decision "would haunt me for the rest of my life." (T. Vol. V 233). He stated that he did know if he "could just follow the law." (T. Vol. V 233).

The prosecutor challenged all three prospective jurors in this group for various reasons including that one could not be fair to the defendant. (T. Vol. V 234). Specifically, the prosecutor challenged prospective Juror David Hebert for cause based on his faith. (T. Vol. V 234). Defense counsel had no objection to removing all three of the prospective jurors in this group including Hebert. (T. Vol. V 234). The trial court excused all three of the prospective jurors including Hebert. (T. Vol. V 234).

Juror Pamela Pennington was questioned with two other prospective jurors. (T. Vol. V 234). Juror Pamela Pennington when asked to characterize her support for the death penalty as being strong, somewhat or slightly favoring the penalty, responded: "somewhat" and it would depend on the circumstances. (T. Vol. V 238). She did not think that the death penalty should be

- 68 -

abolished. (T. Vol. V 239). Juror Pamela Pennington stated that she knew the victim Jackie Malone. (T. Vol. V 240). When her son was trying to buy a house, they worked with her for months, so she knew the victim "from a business perspective." (T. Vol. V 240). She meet with the victim once or twice a week for a matter of months when her son was buying a house. (T. Vol. V 241). This occurred in 2000 or 2001. (T. Vol. V 242). She had no contact with the victim since then. (T. Vol. V 242-243). The prosecutor asked her if her acquaintance with the victim would affect her ability to be fair and impartial, she responded "I think I could be fair." (T. Vol. V 240). The prosecutor then asked her if she could make a fair and legal decision based on the whether the State proved that aggravating circumstances existed which outweigh the mitigating circumstances, and she responded: "Yes." (T. Vol. V 241).

Defense counsel asked juror Pamela Pennington if she understood that the death penalty is imposed only in a very narrow set of circumstances and she responded: "Yes, sir." (T. Vol. V 245). Defense counsel also asked juror Pamela Pennington if she was going to be able to set aside those feelings or business relationship with the victim and make her decision based on the law. (T. Vol. V 246). Juror Pamela Pennington responded: "Yes, sir. It was just a business knowing her; it wasn't - (T. Vol. V 246). Defense counsel interrupted her. Defense counsel then asked her if "maybe life in prison could even be worse than the death penalty? And she responded: "Yes, sir." (T. Vol. V 246-247).

The prosecutor then asked juror Pamela Pennington if it would be fair to say she liked Ms. Malone and she responded: "She was a very

- 69 -

nice lady, yes." (T. Vol. V 247-248). She was satisfied with the work she did for her son and there were no problems. (T. Vol. V 248). She repeated that it would not affect her ability to render a fair and impartial decision. (T. Vol. V 248-249). Neither the prosecutor nor defense counsel attempted to strike Juror Pamela Pennington for cause. (T. Vol. V 253).

Juror Earl Hall was questioned with two other prospective jurors as well. (T. Vol. V 302). Juror Earl Hall stated that he was strongly in favor of the death penalty and could personally vote to impose the death penalty. (T. Vol. V 309). Juror Earl Hall, however, "most definitely" agreed that he would have to weigh mitigating circumstances. (T. Vol. V 310). Juror Earl Hall had heard about the case through the newspaper and some of his family had discussed the case. (T. Vol. V 321). His family had positive opinions about the victim. (T. Vol. V 322). When the prosecutor asked juror Hall if the newspaper article or his family's opinions would affect his ability to render a fair and impartial verdict, he responded: "No, it would not." (T. Vol. V 322).

Juror Hall knew several of the investigators with the sheriff's office. (T. Vol. V 322). Juror Hall knew Investigator Garrett; Investigator Lorenz, and Captain Sunday. (T. Vol. V 322). Investigator Garrett was a "close friend of long standing" (T. Vol. V 322). Juror Hall knew Investigator Garrett for over twenty years. (T. Vol. V 322). Juror Hall's son worked with Investigator Garrett and "they were very close." (T. Vol. V 322). Investigator Lorenz was a client of juror Hall's twenty years ago when he sold insurance. (T. Vol. V 322). Juror Hall did not actually know

- 70 -

Captain Sunday. (T. Vol. V 323). Rather, Juror Hall knew Captain Sunday's father "fairly well." (T. Vol. V 323). Juror Hall's wife went to school with Captain Sunday's father. (T. Vol. V 323). Juror Hall stated that although he was close friends with Investigator Garrett he could fairly weigh his testimony like that of any other witness. (T. Vol. V 323). This was also "most definitely" true of both Investigator Lorenz and Captain Sunday. (T. Vol. V 323).

Juror Hall's son was charged with burglary and theft. (T. Vol. V 324). His son pled guilty and was given probation which he successfully completed. (T. Vol. V 325). Juror Hall felt his son was treated fairly. (T. Vol. V 325).

Defense counsel asked Juror Hall if he would weigh Investigator Garrett's testimony more based on his friendship and he responded "No, sir." (T. Vol. V 327). Juror Hall stated that he "would take it strictly on its value." (T. Vol. V 327). Neither the prosecutor nor defense counsel attempted to strike Juror Earl Hall for cause. (T. Vol. V 327-328).

During jury selection, the prosecutor used seven peremptory challenges. (T. Vol. V 299-300; 328; 353). And the defense used nine peremptory challenges. (T. Vol. V 299-300; 328). As the prosecutor noted, ten peremptory challenges are allowed in a capital case. (T. Vol. V 301). The prosecutor struck prospective juror Clark peremptorily. (T. Vol. V 327-328). The actual jurors were William Foster, William Cornelius, Anne Stuart, Adam Prince, David Sherry, Sharon Steelman, Rebecca Bruce, Lee Jordan, Pamela Pennington, Donna Johns, Earl Hall and Angela Metts. (DAR. Vol II

- 71 -

227; T. Vol. V 356, 357). The alternate jurors were Edwin Cuchens and Dottie Kitch. (R. Vol II 227; T. Vol. V 356).

The trial court's ruling

The trial court granted an evidentiary hearing regarding the three actual jurors (Pennington, Hall and Cornelius) but did not conduct an evidentiary hearing regarding the three prospective jurors that did not serve (Tucker, Herbert and Clark) because postconviction counsel conceded at the case management conference that no evidentiary hearing was required regarding the three prospective jurors. (PC Vol. VI 1074; 1119-1120).

The trial court rejected this claim of ineffectiveness. (PC Vol. VI 1073-1088). The trial court first discussed prospective jurors Tucker, Herbert, and Clark, who did not serve, as a straight *Witherspoon v. Illinois*, 391 U.S. 510, 88 S.Ct. 1770, 20 L.Ed.2d 776 (1968) violation.⁶ (PC Vol. VI 1074-1081). The trial court discussed each of the three prospective jurors. (PC Vol. VI 1074-1081).

The trial court recounted prospective juror James Tucker's responses during jury selection including that he was "sorry" but he did not think he could put his personal feelings aside and impose death and that he believed his views would impair his

⁶ Witherspoon v. Illinois, 391 U.S. 510, 88 S.Ct. 1770, 20 L.Ed.2d 776 (1968) (holding "a sentence of death cannot be carried out if the jury that imposed or recommended it was chosen by excluding veniremen for cause simply because they voiced general objections to the death penalty or expressed conscientious or religious scruples against its infliction.").

ability to follow the law. (PC Vol. VI 1074-1076). The trial court also noted that trial counsel in fact objected to the prosecutor's challenge for cause. (PC Vol. VI 1075 & n.15). The postconviction court then found that Tucker was properly challenged for cause. (PC Vol. VI 1076).

The trial court recounted prospective juror David Herbert's responses during jury selection including that he did not really know what the effect of his religious beliefs would be on his ability to impose the death penalty. (PC Vol. VI 1076-77). Herbert stated that his mind would be saying to do one thing but his faith and heart another. (PC Vol. VI 1077). He thought his Catholic faith would affect his decision. (PC Vol. VI 1077). Upon being asked a third time by the prosecutor if his religion would impair his ability to impose death, Herbert responded "Yeah." (PC Vol. VI 1077). The trial court also recounted defense counsel attempts to rehabilitate Herbert. (PC Vol. VI 1077-78). When asked by the trial court if his religion would impair his ability to impose death, Herbert responded "it would impair it to a certain degree" and that the decision would "haunt him for the rest of his life." (PC Vol. VI 1078). The postconviction court then found that Herbert was properly challenged for cause. (PC Vol. VI 1078-79). And that if defense counsel would have objected to the challenge for cause, any such objection "would likely have been overruled." (PC Vol. VI 1079).

The trial court noted that prospective juror Clark was in fact stricken peremptorily by the prosecutor and was not challenged for cause. (PC Vol. VI 1079-1080). The trial court noted that there is

- 73 -

simply nothing defense counsel can do regarding the prosecutor's use of his peremptory challenges and that *Witherspoon* is limited to for-cause challenges. (PC Vol. VI 1080). And therefore, the trial court concluded that trial counsel cannot "be found deficient for failing to object to a peremptory strike." (PC Vol. VI 1080).

The trial court then addressed the three actual jurors. (PC Vol. VI 1081-88). The trial court noted that defense counsel had only one peremptory challenge at the end of jury selection. (PC Vol. VI 1081). The trial court found as a matter of fact that Guardado was actively involved in jury selection. (PC Vol. VI 1081-82).

The trial court addressed actual juror Pennington (PC Vol. VI 1082-83). The trial court found that jury selection established that she never stated that she was a personal friend or a co-worker of the victim. (PC Vol. VI 1082). Rather, the victim helped the juror's son buying a home, as a realtor, three years before the murder (PC Vol. VI 1082). Pennington indicated that she would be impartial despite her son's business relationship with the victim. (PC Vol. VI 1083). She was also "only somewhat" in favor of the death penalty. The trial court noted that both defense counsel testified that they wanted Pennington on the jury based on her "lukewarm sentiment regarding the death penalty" and that this was a "sound strategic decision." (PC Vol. VI 1083). The trial court also noted that the defendant failed to demonstrate that she was an "unfair or partial juror." (PC Vol. VI 1083).

The trial court addressed actual juror Hall, who knew three of the officers involved in the investigation of the case: Captain Sunday, Investigator Garrett, and Investigator Lorenz. (PC Vol. VI

- 74 -

1083-86). The trial court found that Hall never stated that he personally had any feelings regarding the victim. (PC Vol. VI 1084). The trial court also noted that only Investigator Lorenz testified at the penalty phase. (PC Vol. VI 1084). And that juror Hall indicated that, despite his familiarity with these officers, he would be able to fairly weight the evidence. (PC Vol. VI 1084). He assured the trial court that he could be fair and impartial. (PC Vol. VI 1086). The trial court noted that defense counsel Gontarek planned on using the defendant's full cooperation as mitigation. (PC Vol. VI 1085). The trial court concluded that there was no evidence presented that juror Hall was an "unfair or partial juror." (PC Vol. VI 1085).

The trial court addressed actual juror Cornelius whose great aunt and uncle who were victims of a homicide during a robbery, twenty-five years ago when he was young. (PC Vol. VI 1086-88). He testified that this experience would not affect his ability to serve on the jury. (PC Vol. VI 1086). He was only somewhat in favor of the death penalty. (PC Vol. VI 1087). And defense counsel Gonterak testified that a juror such a Cornelius who feels life in prison is worse than the death penalty is rare and he wanted Cornelius as a juror based on his view. (PC Vol. VI 1088). The trial court also noted that the defendant failed to establish that Cornelius was an unfair or partial juror. (PC Vol. VI 1088).

Procedural bar/fundamental error

The claim regarding prospective jurors Tucker and Herbert is procedurally barred because it should have been raised in the

- 75 -

direct appeal. Johnson v. State, 104 So.3d 1010, 1027 (Fla. 2012)(stating: "[c]laims that should have been raised on direct appeal are procedurally barred from being raised in collateral proceedings" citing Freeman v. State, 761 So.2d 1055, 1063 (Fla. 2000)). If Guardado wished to raise a straight Witherspoon violation regarding these two jurors, he need to do so in the direct appeal. Any straight Witherspoon issue regarding either of these two prospective juror stricken for cause is procedurally barred.

Appellate counsel seems to be raising this issue as a matter of trial court error and fundamental error. Guardado invokes the concept of fundamental error but fundamental error is direct appeal concept. Fundamental error concerns the right to a fair trial, not the right a "fair" postconviction proceedings. There is "no due process right to collateral review at all." Ryan v. Gonzales, 133 S.Ct. 696, 704 (2013) (citing United States v. MacCollom, 426 U.S. 317, 323, 96 S.Ct. 2086, 48 L.Ed.2d 666 (1976)). Fundamental error does not apply in postconviction proceedings. Guardado may not invoke the concept of fundamental error to evade the procedural bar. This Court should decline to address the claims regarding prospective jurors Tucker and Herbert.

Standard of review

The standard of review for a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel is *de novo*. *Rodgers v*. *State*, - So.3d -, -, 2013 WL 1908640, *3 (Fla. 2013) (explaining that this "Court employs a mixed standard of review, deferring to the postconviction court's factual

- 76 -

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